

# Merger Arbitrage and ESG Impact Investing

**Deepak Gurnani** Versor Investments, Founder and Managing Partner

**Ludger Hentschel** Versor Investments, Founding Partner

**Neetu Jhamb** Versor Investments, Partner

October 2022

## **Firm Overview**

Versor Investments is a quantitative investment boutique where data, innovation, and market expertise drive every decision. Headquartered in New York, Versor's investment team merges decades of quantitative research with an ethos that fosters ingenuity and innovation.

Leveraging modern statistical methods and vast datasets, Versor Investments works to create diversified sources of absolute returns across multiple asset classes. Alpha forecast models, portfolio construction, and the trading process rely on the ingenuity and mathematical expertise of 40+ investment professionals, which is underpinned by a rigorous scientific, hypothesis-driven framework. Versor implements state of the art technology infrastructure for risk management, portfolio optimization, and trade execution, developed over 200+ human work years.

Versor upholds client interests with 100% employee ownership and substantial co-investment from partners. Versor offers two categories of investment products: Hedge Funds and Alternative Risk Premia. Both product lines are designed to provide superior risk-adjusted returns while exhibiting low correlation to traditional and alternative asset classes.

The information and opinions contained herein, prepared by Versor Investments LP ("Versor") using data believed to be reliable, are subject to change without notice. Neither Versor nor any officer or employee of Versor accepts any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from any use of this publication or its contents. Any reference to past performance is not indicative of future results.

Versor prepared this document using information believed to be reliable and accurate at the time of writing; but Versor makes no warranty as to accuracy or completeness. Neither Versor nor any officer or employee of Versor accepts any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from any use of this document or its contents. Versor reserves the right to enhance or change any part of the process described in this document at any time and at Versor's sole discretion.

This document is for informational purposes only and is not intended to be, and should not be construed as an offer to sell, or the solicitation of an offer to buy, any interest in any security or investment vehicle. Please refer to important disclosures at the end of the document.

# Merger Arbitrage and ESG Impact Investing

## **Executive Summary**

A merger arbitrage portfolio can be structured to encourage large increases in ESG characteristics that are associated with particular mergers. Such a portfolio can generate attractive returns from investing in mergers that increase ESG scores by 50 percent, or more, over the life of the merger.

Compared to a naive implementation of merger arbitrage, a sophisticated implementation is associated with noticeably larger ESG improvements. The difference in average ESG improvements is nearly 20 percentage points. Moreover, the sophisticated merger arbitrage strategy also generates higher returns than the naive implementation.

These large improvements in ESG scores should make such a merger arbitrage strategy appealing to investors who seek to have positive ESG impact in addition to earning attractive, diversifying investment returns.

The large and quick ESG improvements of a sophisticated merger arbitrage strategy contrast sharply with the uncertain, small, and slow benefits of investing in firms that already have attractive ESG scores. It remains unclear whether these more common ESG investment strategies will generate attractive investment returns or improve ESG scores in the future. In long-term equilibrium, if investors value higher ESG scores they should be willing to accept lower returns. For merger arbitrage, however, we find no evidence that larger expected ESG improvements are associated with lower returns.

# Contents

1	Introduction	1						
2	Merger Arbitrage							
3	ESC Investing3.1ESG Scores3.2ESG Impact	<b>2</b> 2 3						
4	ESG Impact of Merger Arbitrage	4						
	4.1 ESG Data	4						
	4.2 Systematic Merger Arbitrage	4						
	4.3 Measuring ESG Impact	5						
	4.4 Predicting ESG Impact	7						
	4.5 ESG Changes and Merger Returns	8						
	4.6 ESG Impact of Different Merger Arbitrage Strategies	9						
5	Regulatory Implications	11						
6	Summary	12						
7	References	14						

# 1 Introduction

Corporate mergers represent exceptional transformations for the participating firms. We show that one transformation is a large increase in the environmental, social, and governance (ESG) scores of the target firms. This represents an opportunity for merger investors to encourage large, quick increases in ESG scores.

We show that a portfolio of merger deals has experienced a 57% increase in ESG scores, on average. We are not aware of other investment strategies with similar demonstrated ESG impacts. We also show that a sophisticated merger arbitrage strategy can generate even higher ESG improvements of 63%. The ESG improvements associated with this sophisticated strategy are materially larger than the 46% ESG gains from a simpler merger arbitrage strategy that weights mergers according to deal size.

We first outline systematic merger arbitrage strategies and the main aspects of ESG investing. The core of the paper then documents the ESG impacts of merger arbitrage. We briefly discuss some regulatory implications before concluding.

# 2 Merger Arbitrage

Merger arbitrage, also known as risk arbitrage, focuses on purchasing the publicly traded shares of merger target companies, generally at a discount relative to the consideration offered by the acquirer. If the merger completes, the trade earns the spread between the value of the offer and the purchase price of the shares. For offers involving acquirer shares, sophisticated merger arbitrage trades generally short the acquirer shares offered for each target share. In the event the merger completes, this eliminates uncertainty about future acquirer share prices.

The principal risk of such trades stems from uncertainty about whether the merger will complete at the currently offered terms, terminate, or receive a higher offer. Historically, about 90% of mergers complete successfully. About 75% complete under the original terms and about 15% complete with improved offers. Only about 10% of mergers terminate. Most mergers complete or terminate in less than 6 months.

For our empirical analysis of merger arbitrage, we use the results of simulated merger arbitrage strategies that invest in nearly all liquid announced mergers in North America and Europe. The mergers have to be \$500 million or larger. The offers may involve cash or stock in any combination. The simulated strategies hedge out the acquirer stock risk by shorting an appropriate number of acquirer shares for each target share. We investigate two systematic strategies: A "sophisticated" merger arbitrage strategy and a "naive" merger arbitrage strategy. The sophisticated strategy weights deals according to statistically sophisticated predictions about deal returns and deal risks. The predictions apply machine-learning methods to observable deal characteristics. The naive strategy weights deals in proportion to their size.

# 3 ESG Investing

Investors are increasingly interested in the environmental, social, and governance (ESG) consequences of their investments. The mainstream approach to this is to compare the ESG scores of a portfolio to the ESG scores of a benchmark portfolio. An alternative approach explicitly targets improvements in the ESG scores of the portfolio companies.

## 3.1 ESG Scores

Recently, public companies have begun to report a range of ESG information. One example of environmental information now reported by many firms is carbon emissions. For firms that don't yet report such facts, third-party data vendors like Refinitiv, MSCI, or CDP provide estimates. Third-party data firms also rate companies on a variety of ESG criteria not reported by any firm. Berg, Kölbel, Pavlova, and Rigobon (2021) point out that the ESG scores from different data vendors can vary materially.

Standards for aggregating this information from the firm level to the portfolio level are also still evolving.<sup>1</sup> But using a reasonable weighted average across portfolio positions yields a portfolio-level ESG score.

Some investors pursue an objective to hold portfolios with ESG scores that are better than comparable scores for a benchmark portfolio. For example, an investor may aim to hold a portfolio with lower carbon intensity than the market portfolio. Such investors direct their capital to firms with better ESG scores and away from firms with worse ESG scores. Avramov, Cheng, Lioui, and Tarelli (2021) and Pedersen, Fitzgibbons, and Pomorski (2021) describe portfolio construction methods that simultaneously pursue ESG objectives and investment return objectives.

Unfortunately, it is unclear whether such allocations provide firms with incentives to improve their ESG practices or improve investment returns.

Pastor, Stambaugh, and Taylor (2021) and Berk and van Binsbergen (2021) argue that a large shift in investments towards ESG-friendly firms

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Standards for carbon reporting may be the most advanced. For example, TCFD (2021) is a prominent standards proposal.

eventually results in a higher cost of capital for the remaining firms, thereby providing financial incentives for ESG improvements. However, Berk and van Binsbergen (2021) argue that the current level of ESG investment is (still) too small to produce meaningful financial incentives. The empirical analysis by Heath, Macciocchi, Michaeli, and Ringgenberg (2022) finds no impact of ESG investing on corporate behavior.

The evidence on the investment performance of ESG-tilted portfolios is also mixed. Partly this may be due to the relatively short sample periods induced by the short history of ESG scores. Friede, Busch, and Bassen (2015) find that investment returns for ESG stocks have been above average. In contrast, Hong and Kacperczyk (2009) and Bolton and Kacperczyk (2021) find that investment returns for ESG stocks have been below average. However, both positive and negative results in this area tend to be statistically insignificant.

The theoretical equilibrium framework of Pastor, Stambaugh, and Taylor (2021) potentially can explain these conflicting or weak findings. Pastor, Stambaugh, and Taylor (2021) derive a model in which investors are willing to accept lower average returns for firms with better ESG scores. Such a tradeoff seems inevitable for investors who have portfolio objectives in addition to investment returns. Even though firms and portfolios with higher ESG scores should earn lower long-term average returns, they may temporarily outperform when investor preferences for ESG firms increase.

An interesting aspect of such an equilibrium framework is that investors with ESG preferences shift capital away from firms with poor ESG scores. This lowers the share prices of these firms and creates more attractive future returns for investors who pay less attention to ESG criteria. The result is that these investors increase their holdings of firms with poor ESG scores. This substitution reduces and possibly eliminates the effects of "divesting" from firms with poor ESG scores.

These theoretical and statistical challenges in detecting effects of ESG investing on corporate behavior and portfolio returns raise questions about the efficacy of investment strategies that overweight firms or portfolios with attractive ESG scores.

#### 3.2 ESG Impact

One way of overcoming the challenges associated with portfolios focused on current ESG scores is to consider investment strategies that deliver a positive short-term impact on ESG scores.

An investment strategy that pursues positive ESG impact should be interested in measuring ESG scores before the strategy enters positions and after the strategy exits positions. If ESG scores improve over the investment period, it seems fair to say that the strategy is associated with a positive ESG impact.

# 4 ESG Impact of Merger Arbitrage

Using a simulated, systematic implementation of merger arbitrage, we now show that such a portfolio is associated with large improvements in the ESG scores of the merger target firms.

## 4.1 ESG Data

In this study, we use ESG data from Refinitiv. The ESG data includes values self-reported by the firms and Refinitiv estimates for some firms that did not report. Even with those estimates, however, we do not have full historical ESG data for the mergers in our database. We have information about the characteristics of roughly 4,000 mergers in North America and Europe, including the United Kingdom. The mergers were announced between 2003 and 2022. While we have essentially complete information about merger outcomes and returns, for example, the availability of ESG data materially increases over time. We have relatively little ESG information for the earlier years of our merger sample.

The top-level ESG scores from Refinitiv are aggregated scores of underlying constituent scores. The top-level scores are calibrated so they range from 0 (worst) to 1 (best). On this scale, an increase in a firm's ESG score represents an improvement.

Figure 1 shows that the data coverage for ESG scores has improved over time. Although our merger data start in 2003, the ESG coverage during the early years is fairly low. In more recent years, we have ESG scores for 90% of mergers, or more.

## 4.2 Systematic Merger Arbitrage

In order to analyze the ESG impact associated with merger arbitrage, we simulate a systematic merger arbitrage strategy. The strategy buys all announced merger deals over \$500 million in the United States, Canada, and Europe between 2003 and 2022. The strategy holds these positions until the mergers complete or terminate. More than 90% of announced mergers complete. On average, deals take about 5 months to complete. The portfolio operates with variable leverage. Leverage is higher when there are more mergers and lower when there are fewer merges. For offers that contain a stock component, the strategy shorts the appropriate number of acquirer shares in order to eliminate uncertainty about future prices of these shares.



Figure 1: ESG Data Coverage over Time

The graph shows the fraction of mergers for which we have ESG scores from Refinitiv. The light blue line shows coverage as a fraction of the number of outstanding mergers. The dark blue line shows coverage as a fraction of outstanding merger values.

Over the full sample period, the coverage averages 55% of the number of mergers and 63% of merger values. As the figure shows, coverage has increased markedly over time.

The merger sample includes the targets and acquirers from 1,991 announced mergers with market values over \$500 million between January 2003 and May 2022.

Source: ESG Data received from Refinitiv. Internally prepared by Versor Investments.

Past performance is not indicative of future results. Performance results reflect the reinvestment of income. Commodity interest trading involves substantial risk of loss. These results are based on simulated or hypothetical returns that have inherent limitations. No representation is being made that any account is likely to achieve results similar to those shown. Please see additional important disclosures in the back.

The short exposures rise when there are more stock offers and fall when there are fewer stock offers.

We compare two variations of this strategy. The first is a merger arbitrage strategy that uses sophisticated machine learning methods to make forecasts for different deal outcomes. Based on these forecasts, the strategy overweights attractive deals and underweights less attractive deals. The strategy's primary focus is on attractive portfolio returns but it also considers the ESG characteristics of the positions.<sup>2</sup> The second is a naive merger arbitrage strategy that holds positions that are directly proportional to the size of each merger. The naive strategy makes no forecasts for deal outcomes and pays no explicit attention to the ESG improvements associated with the mergers.

### 4.3 Measuring ESG Impact

For the deals in these systematic merger arbitrage portfolios, we measure the changes in ESG scores over the period from 1 year prior to each merger's announcement to 1 year following each merger's completion. Figure 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Versor Investments offers a similar portfolio to clients.



#### Figure 2: Measuring ESG Changes for Mergers

The figure illustrates the event time line for ESG changes associated with mergers. We measure the changes over an interval that starts one year prior to merger announcement and ends one year after merger completion.

illustrates the timeline for this measurement in event time relative to merger announcements. We measure the changes for merger targets, a matched portfolio of their sector peers, merger acquirers, and a matched portfolio of their sector peers. We focus on successful mergers since they constitute more than 90% of all announced mergers.

Table 1 shows that the merger targets in this investable universe increased their ESG scores by an average of 57%! This increase vastly outstrips the contemporaneous increases for a portfolio of matched sector peers. The ESG scores of the sector peers rose by 10%, on average. The difference between these ESG improvements is highly statistically significant, with a Student *t*-statistic of nearly 19. The ESG scores for the acquirers in these transactions rose by 13%, also more than for their matching sector peers. Once again, we comfortably reject the hypothesis that acquirer and peer ESG scores increase by the same amount, with a Student *t*-statistic of nearly 5.

Table 1 shows results for overall ESG scores. Separately, we have investigated similar changes for the environmental, social, and governance scores and carbon emission intensities. All of these show similarly dramatic improvements.

Although ESG scores overall have drifted up during this period, merger targets and acquirers have strongly outperformed their sector peers. Especially for merger targets, this difference is very large and unlikely to be matched by investment strategies that overweight firms with above-average ESG scores. For such strategies, there simply are not enough corporate events that have a chance to produce large ESG changes. By contrast, a merger is likely one of the largest corporate events in a firm's lifetime. In this sense, merger arbitrage can have an exceptional ESG impact. The data show that merger arbitrage has a large positive ESG impact.

A part of these large improvements in ESG scores stems from the fact that

	Targets		Acquirers		
	Change in ESG (%)	t-Stat	Change in ESG (%)	t-Stat	
Merger	56.8	(22.7)	12.9	(20.4)	
Sector Benchmark	9.5	(41.0)	9.6	(40.2)	
Difference	47.2	(18.8)	3.2	(4.8)	

#### Table 1: ESG Impact of Mergers

The table compares the changes in average ESG scores for acquirers and targets participating in mergers and matched sector peers from 2 different merger strategies. Changes are expressed in percent. To the right of the estimates, the table shows the associated *t*-statistics in parentheses.

The sample includes 1,991 announced mergers with market values over \$500 million between January 2003 and May 2022. There are 685 targets and 1,368 acquirers with available ESG scores.

Source: ESG data received from Refinitiv. Internally prepared by Versor Investments.

Past performance is not indicative of future results. Performance results reflect the reinvestment of income. Commodity interest trading involves substantial risk of loss. These results are based on simulated or hypothetical returns that have inherent limitations. No representation is being made that any account is likely to achieve results similar to those shown. Please see additional important disclosures in the back.

merger targets often start with below-average ESG scores. After completion of the merger, these scores are materially higher. While the associated portfolio holdings start with below-average ESG scores, they result in exceptional ESG improvements. This should be appealing to investors with an interest in making investments with a positive impact.

## 4.4 Predicting ESG Impact

A sophisticated merger arbitrage portfolio can target mergers with especially large ESG improvements since we can predict these changes.

Table 2 shows results from regressions that predict ESG changes based on various characteristics of the merger. The table shows results for univariate regressions based on selected predictors and for a multivariate regression including several predictors.

The predictors are proprietary and we veil their exact construction. However, table 2 demonstrates that we can forecast the majority of ESG changes associated with mergers.

The  $R^2$  statistics in table 2 show that all of the regressions deliver material predictive power. Several of the models achieve  $R^2$  values of 70%, or more. Predictive models like this can meaningfully separate mergers with large expected ESG improvements from mergers with small expected ESG improvements.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In practice, even more accurate forecasts may be achievable with additional predictors or machine learning methods. Table 2 shows relatively simple linear models for illustration.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Predictor 1	0.01 (17.18)			0.01 (1.82)
Predictor 2		1.05 (42.82)		0.38 (4.44)
Predictor 3		(	0.99 (45.06)	0.62 (7.51)
N R <sup>2</sup> (%)	685 30.18	685 73.86	685 75.83	685 76.59

Table	2:	Predicting	ESG	Changes	for I	Mergers
	_			011011900		

The table shows results for regressions that try to predict the ESG changes for merger targets. In all regressions, the dependent variable is the change in the target ESG score from one year before the merger announcement to one year after the merger completion.

The regression models use one or more explanatory variables. We label the explanatory variables predictor 1, predictor 2, and predictor 3, respectively. The precise nature of these predictors is proprietary.

All regressions include an intercept. The table shows the slope coefficients with their *t*-statistics in parentheses, the number of included observations, and the  $R^2$  from the regression.

The sample includes announced mergers with market values over \$500 million between January 2003 and May 2022 and available ESG scores.

Source: Data received from Refinitiv. Internally prepared by Versor Investments.

Past performance is not indicative of future results. Performance results reflect the reinvestment of income. Commodity interest trading involves substantial risk of loss. These results are based on simulated or hypothetical returns that have inherent limitations. No representation is being made that any account is likely to achieve results similar to those shown. Please see additional important disclosures in the back.

## 4.5 ESG Changes and Merger Returns

It is natural to ask whether a merger arbitrage portfolio that overweights mergers with large expected ESG improvements realizes higher or lower returns than a portfolio that ignores ESG changes.

Table 3 shows results of regressions

$$r_{i,t+1} - r_{f,t+1} = a + b E_t[\Delta s_{i,t+1}] + \epsilon_{i,t+1}, \tag{1}$$

where  $r_{i,t+1} - r_{f,t+1}$  is the annualized, hedged return on merger *i* in excess of the contemporaneous risk-free return,  $E_t[\Delta s_{i,t+1}]$  is the predicted change in the ESG score  $s_{i,t+1}$  for the target firm in merger *i*, and  $\epsilon_{i,t+1}$  are unexplained residual returns.<sup>4</sup>

The table shows that realized merger arbitrage deal returns do not have a strong association with expected ESG changes. Although deals with larger

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Astute readers may be concerned that the estimate of b is likely to be downward biased if we wish to investigate the correlation between merger returns and actual changes in ESG scores. Since the actual changes in ESG scores will not be known until after the merger completes, we cannot use them as investment criteria. As a result, we care about the correlation between merger returns and expected changes in ESG scores. For this purpose, the estimate of b is unbiased.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Predictor 1	-0.08 $(-0.42)$			
Predictor 2		0.19 (1.50)		
Predictor 3		~ /	0.14 $(1.17)$	
All				$0.15 \\ (1.28)$
N	685	685	685	685
K <sup>2</sup> (%)	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.02

#### **Table 3: Merger Returns and Expected ESG Changes**

The table shows results for regressions that link merger arbitrage returns to expected ESG changes for merger targets,

 $r_{i,t+1} - r_{f,t+1} = a + b E_t[\Delta s_{i,t+1}] + \epsilon_{i,t+1}.$ 

In all regressions, the dependent variable is the hedged merger return in excess of the contemporaneous risk-free rate. Returns are expressed in annualized percentage points.

The explanatory variables are the predicted changes in target ESG scores using the different prediction models outlined in table 2.

All regressions include an intercept. The table shows the slope coefficients with their *t*-statistics in parentheses, the number of included observations, and the  $R^2$  from the regression.

The sample includes announced mergers with market values over \$500 million between January 2003 and May 2022 and available ESG scores.

Source: Data received from Refinitiv. Internally prepared by Versor Investments.

Past performance is not indicative of future results. Performance results reflect the reinvestment of income. Commodity interest trading involves substantial risk of loss. These results are based on simulated or hypothetical returns that have inherent limitations. No representation is being made that any account is likely to achieve results similar to those shown. Please see additional important disclosures in the back.

expected ESG improvements tend to have higher returns, this association is not statistically significant. While overweighting deals with larger expected ESG improvements may not reliably increase portfolio returns, there is no evidence that doing so reduces portfolio returns. This allows sophisticated portfolio construction for merger arbitrage to take advantage of especially large expected ESG improvements without a reduction in portfolio returns.

As we discussed in section 3, equilibrium analysis suggests that many ESG investment strategies should earn lower long-term investment returns. In table 3, we show that there is no evidence that such a tradeoff is required in merger arbitrage.

## 4.6 ESG Impact of Different Merger Arbitrage Strategies

We have shown that mergers in general have resulted in improved ESG scores and that we can predict these improvements. We now show that not all merger arbitrage strategies have the same ESG impact. We compare the

ESG effects of two merger arbitrage strategies: the sophisticated merger arbitrage strategy we introduced above, which actively selects deals, and a naive strategy that simply holds deals in proportion to their market capitalization.

As previously described, the sophisticated merger arbitrage strategy systematically invests in announced mergers in North America and Europe, including the United Kingdom. The strategy uses sophisticated machine learning methods to make forecasts for different deal outcomes. Based on these forecasts, the strategy overweights attractive deals and underweights less attractive deals. The strategy's primary focus is on attractive portfolio returns but it also considers the ESG characteristics of the positions.

In contrast, the naive strategy establishes positions that are directly proportional to the size of each merger and pays no attention to the ESG improvements associated with the mergers.

Each of these strategies takes positions in mergers when they are announced. The portfolio weights vary over time, as other mergers complete or come to the market. These fluctuating weights make it cumbersome to form weighted averages across the ultimate ESG outcomes of these mergers. We approximate these strategy weights using a slightly simpler, constant weight for each deal.

We approximate the target weights each strategy assigns to the deals by pooling all deals announced during a 6-month period. We pretend that the portfolio entered into all of these deals at the same time. This allows us to compute fixed target weights for each deal under each strategy. We then measure the weighted average ESG change for the merger targets. Finally, we repeat this process for subsequent 6-month periods. We choose 6 months, because a typical merger lasts about that length of time.

For each merger strategy, this creates a time series of weighted average ESG changes for the merger targets. Since the number of deals with available ESG data materially increases over time, we take a weighted average of these time-series observations. The time-series weights are proportional to the number of deals with available ESG data in each period.<sup>5</sup> Importantly, these time-series weights are the same for both merger arbitrage strategies. Only the cross-sectional portfolio weights differ across the strategies.

Table 4 compares the ESG impact of these two strategies. The table shows that the sophisticated strategy delivers ESG improvements that are nearly 18 percentage points higher, on average. This difference in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This is a generalized least squares estimate of the average ESG change when the periodic average changes have different variances due to the different numbers of data points in the cross-sections.

	Sophisticated		Naive		Difference	
	Change in		Change in		Change in	
	ESG (%)	t-Stat	ESG (%)	t-Stat	ESG (%)	t-Stat
Merger	63.4	(22.1)	45.7	(19.6)	17.7	(4.8)
Sector	6.9	(21.8)	7.0	(21.0)	-0.1	(-0.2)
Difference	56.5	(19.6)	38.8	(16.5)	17.7	(4.8)

#### Table 4: ESG Impact of Different Merger Arbitrage Strategies

The table compares the weighted average changes in ESG scores for merger targets and sector peers across two different merger arbitrage strategies. Values in parentheses are *t*-statistics.

The "sophisticated" strategy systematically weights mergers based on a comprehensive set of forecasts for returns and risks, including ESG characteristics. (See text for additional details.) The "naive" strategy systematically weights mergers in proportion to the size of each merger.

To track ESG improvements for these strategies we pool all announced mergers in the investable universe over a six-month period. We then measure the change in the ESG scores for the merger targets from 1 year prior to the merger announcement to 1 year after the deal completion. The portfolio weights differ across the sophisticated and naive strategies.

This creates a time-series of weighted average ESG improvements. We use this time-series to compute the grand mean ESG improvement for each strategy. Since the number of mergers with ESG data increases over time, we weight the time-series observations by the number of available data points in each 6-month period. The time-series weights are the same for both merger strategies.

The sample includes announced mergers with market values over \$500 million between January 2003 and May 2022 with available ESG scores. There are 685 merger targets with available ESG data. The portfolios take positions in 519 of these mergers.

Source: Data received from Refinitiv. Internally prepared by Versor Investments.

Past performance is not indicative of future results. Performance results reflect the reinvestment of income. Commodity interest trading involves substantial risk of loss. These results are based on simulated or hypothetical returns that have inherent limitations. No representation is being made that any account is likely to achieve results similar to those shown. Please see additional important disclosures in the back.

average ESG improvements is statistically significant with a Student *t*-statistic of 4.8. Clearly, not all merger arbitrage strategies produce similar ESG improvements.

Importantly, the sophisticated merger arbitrage strategy also earns more attractive investment returns than the naive implementation. Since our focus here is on the ESG impact of merger arbitrage, however, we do not discuss performance details of these strategies.

# 5 Regulatory Implications

The regulation of ESG disclosures and ESG-focused investment strategies is evolving rapidly.

Almost all of the regulatory focus has been on the reporting of current ESG characteristics for firms and investment portfolios. Such characteristics are clearly important to many investors and regulation should establish ground rules for transparent and consistent reporting of current ESG characteristics.6

As we show above, however, there is an important place for measuring ESG improvements over time. We think that this is a central focus for many investors. However, current ESG scores say essentially nothing about future ESG improvements. As we mentioned previously, merger targets tend to have below-average ESG scores but achieve very large ESG improvements.

While consistent ESG reports permit monitoring of improvements at the firm level, such measurements are more challenging for portfolios. Portfolio holdings are not constant over time. As a result, an improvement in portfolio ESG scores could stem from an improvement at the underlying firms, or simply from a portfolio shift to firms with higher ESG scores. The latter, of course, does not reflect a true economic improvement and is likely to be less important to investors.

We urge investors and regulators to establish additional standards for measuring the ESG impact of investment portfolios. We believe that ESGfocused investors care about the ESG impact of their investments at least as much as they care about the current ESG characteristics of their portfolios. This remains a neglected aspect of ESG reporting and regulation and should be addressed thoughtfully.

## 6 Summary

We show that a sophisticated merger arbitrage strategy is associated with large increases in ESG scores for the merger targets. On average, the ESG scores for merger targets rise by about 57% from one year before the merger to one year after completion of the merger. The improvements are similar for the overall ESG scores, the environmental scores, the social scores, and the governance scores.

A sophisticated merger arbitrage strategy can further increase these ESG improvements to 63%, on average. A simple merger arbitrage strategy that weights deal by deal size is associated with materially smaller ESG improvements of 46%. Moreover, the sophisticated merger arbitrage strategy also generates higher returns than the naive implementation.

These large and rapid ESG improvements associated with sophisticated merger arbitrage should be appealing to investors who wish to make investments with a positive ESG impact. Such improvements are possible because a merger is a dramatic and unusual event during the life of a firm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>For a discussion of investor-relevant carbon reporting for portfolios, see Gurnani and Hentschel (2022).

#### Summary

We are not aware of other investment strategies that generate similarly large ESG improvements over similarly short time frames. Certainly, the large and rapid increases in ESG scores for merger arbitrage stand in stark contrast to the small, uncertain, and likely slow ESG benefits of investment strategies that overweight firms that already have attractive ESG scores.

# 7 References

- Avramov, Doron, Si Cheng, Abraham Lioui, and Andrea Tarelli, 2021, Sustainable investing with ESG rating uncertainty, Working paper, Interdisciplinary Center, Herzliya, Israel.
- Berg, Florian, Julian F. Kölbel, Anna Pavlova, and Roberto Rigobon, 2021, ESG confusion and stock returns: Tackling the problem of noise, Working paper, MIT, Cambridge, MA.
- Berk, Jonathan B., and Jules H. van Binsbergen, 2021, The impact of impact investing, Working paper, Stanford, Stanford, CA.
- Bolton, Patrick, and Marcin Kacperczyk, 2021, Do investors care about carbon risk?, *Journal of Financial Economics* 142, 517–549.
- Friede, Gunnar, Timo Busch, and Alexander Bassen, 2015, ESG and financial performance: Aggregated evidence from more than 2,000 empirical studies, *Journal of Sustainable Finance and Investments* 5, 210–233.
- Gurnani, Deepak, and Ludger Hentschel, 2022, Carbon intensity of investment portfolios: Principles, Versor Investments, New York, NY.
- Heath, Davidson, Daniele Macciocchi, Roni Michaeli, and Matthew C. Ringgenberg, 2022, Does socially reponsible investing change firm behavior?, Working paper, University of Utah, Park City, UT.
- Hong, Harrison, and Marcin Kacperczyk, 2009, The price of sin: The effects of social norms on markets, *Journal of Financial Economics* 93, 15–36.
- Pastor, Lubos, Robert F. Stambaugh, and Lucian A. Taylor, 2021, Sustainable investing in equilibrium, *Journal of Financial Economics* 142, 550–571.
- Pedersen, Lasse Heje, Shaun Fitzgibbons, and Lukasz Pomorski, 2021, Responsible investing: The ESG-efficient frontier, *Journal of Financial Economics* 142, 572–597.
- TCFD, 2021, Implementing the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, Basel, Switzerland.

# Disclosures

## **General Disclosures**

The information contained herein is provided for informational and discussion purposes only and is not, and may not be relied on in any manner as, legal, tax or investment advice. This document does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities or the solicitation to enter into any investment advisory or similar agreement with Versor Investments LP or any of its affiliates (collectively, "Versor Investments") and may not be used or relied upon in connection with any offer or sale of securities. Any such offer may only be made by means of formal Offering Documents, the terms of which will govern in all respects. Past performance is not indicative of future results. The information set forth herein does not purport to be complete.

Investing in an investment product made available by Versor Investments or its affiliates (a "Fund") involves a high degree of risk. No person has been authorized to make any statement concerning the Fund other than as set forth in such Fund's Offering Documents and any such statements, if made, may not be relied upon. Prior to investing, investors must familiarize themselves with the Fund's offering materials and subscriptions documents (collectively, the "Offering Documents") and be prepared to absorb the risks associated with any such investment, including a total loss of all invested capital. The complete terms regarding an investment in a Fund, including but not limited to the investment program, fees and charges, tax considerations, risk factors, conflicts of interest and liquidity, are set forth in the Fund's Offering Documents.

The information contained herein is unaudited and provided as an accommodation to investors in connection with the monitoring of their investment in a Fund. The materials provided are based upon information included in our records, as well as information received from third parties. We do not represent that such information is accurate or complete, and it should not be relied upon as such. The financial information contained herein does not provide a complete picture of the Fund's financial position or results, in part because it is does not reflect all applicable fees, expenses and other costs that will affect the Fund's net returns. The actual returns of the Fund will be lower - and likely much lower - than the unaudited returns included in this presentation. Please contact Versor Investments for a pro forma calculation of the impact of projected fees and expenses

on the returns included herein. In the event of any discrepancy between the information contained herein and the information contained in an investor's audited account statements, the latter shall govern.

Certain information in this document may consist of compilations of publicly-available data. Versor Investments has obtained such data from what it believes to be reliable sources. However, Versor Investments has no ability, and has not attempted independently, to verify any of such information. Versor Investments has not generated or independently verified the data included in this document and assumes no responsibility for it.

Certain information included in this document regarding Versor Investments' "implementation" of different strategies is simulated and back-tested. These are hypothetical records only. These results have been generated by applying Versor Investments' systems to historical pricing data for the publiclytraded instruments (including securities and futures) in which the Versor Investments' accounts will trade. The recipient should understand that Versor Investments, in using its analytics to generate simulated results, necessarily applies Versor Investments' statistical models to historical data on a back-tested basis. Different quantitative analysts will differ as to how statistically to define the different factors. While Versor Investments believes that its method of analysis is reasonable, there are other equally reasonable methods which would generate materially different results. Relying on any form of statistical, quantitative analysis in investment decision-making is speculative and involves a high degree of risk. PAST PERFORMANCE IS NOT NECES-SARILY INDICATIVE OF FUTURE RESULTS. Commodity interest trading involves substantial risk of loss.

Because these results are simulated, they are subject to all of the material inherent limitations of back-tested data. Due to these limitations (among others), the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission requires that the following disclaimer accompany such information:

These results are based on simulated or hypothetical performance results that have certain inherent limitations. Unlike the results shown in an actual performance record, these results do not represent actual trading. Also, because these trades have not actually been executed, these results may have underor over-compensated for the impact, if any, of certain market factors, such as lack of liquidity. Simulated or hypothetical trading programs in general are also subject to the fact that they are designed with the benefit of hindsight. Specifically, Versor Investments continuously seeks to enhance its methodologies and therefore a survivorship bias is present as these hypothetical performance results are continuously updated to apply what Versor Investments believes to be the most optimal approach at that point in time. No representation is being made that any account will or is likely to achieve profits or losses similar to these being shown. An investment with Versor Investments is speculative and involves substantial risks; investors may lose their entire investment. No one should rely on any simulated performance in determining whether to invest with Versor Investments.

Certain analysis or statements included herein may constitute forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements are not historical facts but reflect Versor Investments' current statistical conclusions regarding future results or events. These forwardlooking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from history or current expectations. Although Versor Investments believes that the assumptions inherent in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future results or events and, accordingly, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such statements due to the inherent uncertainty therein.

While Versor may consider ESG factors when making investment decisions, Versor does not pursue an ESG-based investment strategy or limit its investments to those that meet specific ESG criteria or standards.

It should not be assumed that any ESG initiatives, standards, or metrics described herein will apply to each asset in which Versor invests or that any ESG initiatives, standards, or metrics described herein have applied to Versor's prior investments. ESG is only one of many considerations that affect Versor's investment decisions. Other considerations outweigh ESG considerations in certain circumstances. The information provided herein is intended solely to provide an indication of the ESG initiatives and standards that Versor applies when seeking to evaluate and/or improve the ESG characteristics of its investments as part of the larger goal of maximizing financial returns on investments. Any ESG initiatives described herein will be implemented with respect to a portfolio investment only to the extent Versor determines these initiatives to be consistent with its broader investment goals and applicable laws. Accordingly, certain investments may exhibit characteristics that are inconsistent with the ESG initiatives, standards, or metrics described herein.

This document is confidential and is intended solely for the addressee. The information contained herein is proprietary and confidential to Versor Investments and may not be disclosed to third parties, or duplicated or used for any purpose other than the purpose for which it has been provided. Unauthorized reproduction or the distribution of this document (or any excerpts hereof) is strictly prohibited. The recipient agrees to dispose of this document promptly upon the request of Versor Investments .

#### Australia Disclosures

#### Australia General Disclaimer

This document is issued by Versor Investments LP ("Versor Investments"), a U.S. investment adviser registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. The information in this document (the "Information") has been prepared without taking into account individual objectives, financial situations or needs. It should not be relied upon as a substitute for financial or other specialist advice. This document does not constitute investment advice or any offer or solicitation to sell investment advisory services in any jurisdiction in which an offer, solicitation, purchase or sale would be unlawful under the securities law of that jurisdiction. This document is directed at and intended for wholesale clients, professional clients, eligible counterparties and other "institutional investors" (as such term is defined in various jurisdictions). This document is provided on a confidential basis for informational purposes only and may not be reproduced in any form or transmitted to any person without authorization from Versor Investments.

By accepting a copy of this presentation, you agree (a) that the Information is confidential and proprietary to Versor Investments, (b) to keep the Information confidential, (c) not to use the Information for any purpose other than to evaluate a potential investment in any product described herein, and (d) not to distribute the Information to any person other than persons within your organization or to your client that has engaged you to evaluate an investment in such product. This document is supplied on the condition that it is not passed on to any person who is a retail client. Past performance is not indicative of future results. Unless otherwise specified, investments are not bank deposits or other obligations of a bank, and the repayment of principal is not insured or guaranteed. They are subject to investment risks, including the possibility that the value of any investment (and income derived thereof (if any)) can increase, decrease

or in some cases, be entirely lost and investors may not get back the amount originally invested. The contents of this document have not been reviewed by any regulatory authority in the countries in which it is distributed. Versor Investments accepts no liability whatsoever for any direct, indirect or consequential loss arising from or in connection with any use of, or reliance on, this document which does not have any regard to the particular needs of any person. Versor Investments takes no responsibility whatsoever for any use, reliance or reference by persons other than the intended recipient of this document.

Opinions and views expressed constitute the judgment of Versor Investments as of the date of this document, may involve a number of assumptions and estimates which may not be valid, are not guaranteed, and are subject to change without notice. Although the information and any opinions or views given have been obtained from or based on sources believed to be reliable, no warranty or representation is made as to their correctness, completeness or accuracy.

The opinions and views herein are not intended to be recommendations of particular financial instruments or strategies to you. This document does not identify all the risks (direct or indirect) or other considerations which might be material to you when entering any financial transaction. You are advised to exercise caution in relation to any information in this document. If you are in doubt about any of the contents of this document, you should seek independent professional advice.

#### Legal Disclaimer

It is the responsibility of any persons wishing to engage investment advisory services to inform themselves of and to observe all applicable laws and regulations of any relevant jurisdictions. Prospective clients should inform themselves as to the legal requirements and tax consequences within the countries of their citizenship, residence, domicile and place of business with respect to the acquisition, holding or disposal of any investments in stock or bonds, and any foreign exchange restrictions that maybe relevant thereto. Versor Investments products or services are not registered for public sale in Australia, New Zealand or Papua New Guinea, respectively. The Information is provided for informational purposes only. Opinions, estimates, forecasts, and statements of financial market trends that are based on current market conditions constitute our judgment and are subject to change without notice. We believe the information provided here is reliable. The views and strategies described may not be suitable for all clients. References to specific securities, asset classes and financial markets are for illustrative purposes only and are not intended to be, and should not be interpreted as, recommendations.

#### **Benchmark Disclosures**

The index returns are provided for purposes of comparison. The index returns are computed and reported by the respective index providers. In the case of hedge fund indexes, the index returns are based on funds selected by the index provider. The fund returns are reported by hedge fund managers and are net of fund fees and expenses.

The comparison of the performance of the various strategies presented to these indices may be inappropriate because the various strategies are not as diversified as the indices, may be more or less volatile than the indices, and may include securities which are substantially different than the securities in the indices. Although information and analysis contained herein has been obtained from sources the Adviser believes to be reliable, its accuracy and completeness cannot be guaranteed.